
New Brunswick
Newfoundland and Labrador
Nova Scotia
Prince Edward Island
www.atlanticcreditunions.ca

2011 Annual Report 



Printing and Assembly: Printing & Supplies 

Photos: Precision Photography and David Grandy Photography – CEO , Board of Directors and Executive Management
All other photo: Red cross pix are staff, IYC pics are courtesy of the NS Co-op Council and the Atlantic Co-operator.

Vision, Mission and Values  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2

Message from the Board of Directors  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3

Message from the President & Chief Executive Officer  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7

Social Responsibility and Sustainability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11

Management Discussion and Analysis . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14

Financial Statements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19

Corporate Governance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50

Affiliate Boards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 54

Table of Contents



2

Vision

To be an innovative leader contributing to a strong and effective network of 
credit unions. 

Mission

Through our leadership and the excellence of our people, products and services, 
we support credit unions in becoming the financial institution of choice. 

Values

Stewardship
We accept the roles of support and leadership defined for us by the credit 
unions of Atlantic Canada, and with them, support the well-being of the credit 
union network and the communities it serves. We will operate in a socially 
responsible and profitable manner for the common good of our stakeholders.

Service
We are committed to providing professional service to our stakeholders who 
include credit unions and their employees, our affiliates and their employees, 
and to each other. 

Respect
We will conduct ourselves respectfully – respectful of diversity, respectful of 
ourselves and respectful of others in order to build and sustain a productive 
workplace. 

Accountability
We choose to be accountable for our actions and the results we deliver to our 
stakeholders. We share responsibility for the well-being and success of Atlantic 
Central and the credit unions it serves. 

Continuous Growth and Development
We commit to continually strengthening our organization and services. We 
will initiate learning and improve personally, departmentally and corporately 
to enhance our contributions for the well-being of our stakeholders and the 
communities we serve. 

Vision, Mission and Values
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Challenges continue, but Atlantic credit unions have the tools to succeed
2011 was another challenging year, with pressure mounting on increasingly-
tight margins for all credit unions in the region. The low interest rate 
environment is not going away any time soon, forcing credit union boards 
and management to closely examine each asset and expenditure. 

There is increased competition as larger financial institutions focus more 
sharply on smaller, local markets. Competitors now include not just the “Big 
6” but include newer market entrants including Canadian Tire and Walmart. 
Relentless changes in technology require increased attention to security and 
compliance issues. Privacy concerns coupled with anti-money laundering rules 
related to Canada’s international obligations to our trading partners present 
a whole new set of challenges. Technological innovation is more and more 
pervasive, presenting challenges in maintaining current knowledge levels and 
resources normally expected of a financial institution. 

For Atlantic Central, the challenge has been to respond to these elements and 
provide efficient, economical support to Atlantic credit unions where possible.
There is growth and profitability in our system. Atlantic Central shares a 
responsibility with credit unions to manage this on behalf of all credit union 
members. This profitability is evident in the third quarter results from Credit 
Union Central of Canada (CUCC), showing a 9.7 % gain in assets among 
central-affiliated credit unions/ caisses populaires across the country. Savings/
deposits increased by 8% over third quarter 2010, and loan growth grew by 
9%. This represents the sixth consecutive quarter of loan growth exceeding 
deposits.

To achieve the goal of a healthy operating margin, credit unions have several 
choices: find other sources of revenue, improve efficiencies to reduce costs, or 
find new ways to generate a greater return. 

The new Atlantic Central provides us a fortunate opportunity to examine 
successful business models within our system for operating efficiencies to 
emulate. Credit unions may now, through Atlantic Central, share in improved 
efficiencies by co-operating with back office systems, for example, potentially 
improving the profitability and growth prospects for the entire Atlantic system. 
The opportunities presented by our partner organizations such as Atlantic 
Central subsidiary League Savings and Mortgage have also helped credit unions 
enhance profitability and growth in 2011. More examination of ways to fully 
utilize system assets such as League Savings to optimize benefit is ongoing.

Message from the Board of Directors

David MacLean
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Strategic Goals: Role and Relationship Examination
In 2011, the Atlantic Central Inaugural Board set out to ensure the founding 
goals of the Atlantic Central project were confirmed and implemented. 
The board provided careful and thorough oversight, working closely with 
management in the achievement of these objectives.

One commitment was to conduct an exhaustive review of all services the 
Central provides to credit unions. The Role and Relationship Committee was 
created to engage in that process. The committee has worked diligently 
with credit union boards and management to tighten an already-ambitious 
18-month time frame. Committee members from credit union boards and 
management in all four provinces have expended considerable effort in drawing 
from the best approaches of the former Centrals.   We now hope to have that 
process completed ahead of schedule, in mid-2012. A Role and Relationship 
Committee update will be presented at the Annual General Meeting to be held 
in April, 2012.

Economic unrest spotlights credit union principles
The 2011 international economic environment sparked an outcry among 
certain elements of society. Public demonstrations lead by proponents of the 
“Occupy” movement, shone a spotlight on credit unions and co-operatives 
as possible remedies for their disaffection. The United Nations has declared 
2012 as the International Year of Co-operatives, giving us an ideal opportunity 
to demonstrate the significance of our distinct value proposition. While the 
Canadian credit union system inhabits a different environment from that of 
our southern neighbors, our co-operative principles are well-known. They are 
fundamental to the credit union identity and welcoming to all those who share 
a belief in their value.

International recognition for our system’s strength
One particularly interesting dimension to this year for me was the opportunity 
to participate as a CUCC delegate at the World Council of Credit Unions 
(WOCCU) conference in Scotland. Not only was Canada well represented by 
attendees from coast to coast but particularly from across Atlantic Canada. 
One could be justifiably proud of the significant role played by Canadian 
credit union representatives as internationally recognized leaders, experts and 
presenters.  There was a genuine interest in, and appreciation for how well 
Canadian credit unions effectively managed through the financial turmoil of 
the past several years.  There was admiration for the whole system – products, 
services, operations, education initiatives and commitment to the international 
co-operative principles that underline a Canadian success story.  

“One couldn’t help 

but appreciate 

the degree to 

which boards and 

management of the 

Canadian system 

demonstrated their 

commitment to 

the international 

principles, and other 

countries appreciated 

this dedication.”
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Looking to the future
On behalf of the Inaugural Board of Atlantic Central, I extend our deepest 
appreciation to management and staff for the extraordinary lengths to which 
they have gone to ensure a successful first year of operation.  Collectively, 
we share a strong sense of pride in a remarkable achievement.  Looking 
to the future, our long-term success will continue to be driven by effective 
governance. Your Board has strived to continuously strengthen the skills and 
experience of Directors and encourages participation by persons committed 
to the highest levels of integrity; clarity in their roles and responsibilities; and 
engagement with our stakeholders.

David MacLean,
Chair of the Board
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Financial Results
I believe Atlantic Central got off to an excellent start in 2011 and exceeded 
our expectations. In the first year of any business combination it is not unusual 
to have a loss for the first year, and maybe even more. Therefore, it is quite 
gratifying and speaks highly of our dedicated management and employees 
that in our first year of operation as Atlantic Central, we exceeded not only our 
budget but our expectations.

Our financial results were excellent for a company in transition. Despite the 
low interest rate environment that prevailed throughout 2011 we were able 
to achieve a strong bottom line. As has been our practice in previous years we 
must maintain Retained Earnings at 1.7% of average assets and we distribute 
any additional earnings to our credit unions and other system partners. 
Therefore, in 2011 any excess above this requirement was distributed as an 
interest rebate and amounted to $2.6 million. 

Determining an approach and formula for the liquidity rebate that is fair and 
equitable to all credit unions in our region proved to be somewhat complicated 
and challenging due to the varying regulatory liquidity requirements among 
our provinces. Details on this calculation were provided to credit unions in 
a memo dated January 31, 2012 from Sharon Arnold, Senior Vice-President, 
Finance, and are posted to our cuZone site for your reference.

The Board also approved a dividend of 3% on Share Capital and other 
distributions to credit unions which totalled $1,141,085 for 2011.

Challenging Economic Environment
The economic environment and, in particular, the low interest rates which are 
expected to continue for the next few years are putting significant pressure 
on Atlantic Central, League Savings and Mortgage Company, and the credit 
unions in the Atlantic region. This environment absolutely presents challenges 
for our entire system and future operations.

2011 is the first year that we report on credit union results for the entire 
Atlantic region. Credit union assets at the end of 2010 for the four Atlantic 
Provinces were just under $3.8 billion. In 2011 assets grew modestly to almost 
$4 billion while membership has declined from 340,800 in 2010 to 333,900 
in 2011. I believe this trend needs to be addressed on an ongoing basis. The 
only province in Atlantic Canada that did not have a decrease in credit union 
membership is Newfoundland and Labrador, which had a modest increase in 
membership for the fourth year in a row. 

Message from the 
President & Chief Executive Officer

Bernie O’Neil
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Therefore, looking forward our system has both challenges and opportunities 
that will need to be addressed and improved. Declining membership, 
tightening financial margins, the low interest rate environment and whether 
our growth rates will sustain us into the future are some of the issues that we 
must address from a strategic perspective.

During the latter part of 2011 Atlantic Central, in conjunction with our credit 
unions, introduced significant changes to our Regional Marketing Strategy 
which is evident through our advertising campaign which has been ongoing 
for the past number of months. The approach to advertising is certainly more 
aggressive than we have been accustomed to and is designed to heighten the 
awareness of credit unions in the Atlantic region.

Our People
Creation of Atlantic Central has had a significant impact on a number of our 
employees, but certainly some impact on all employees of Atlantic Central. 
This impact includes changes to roles, duties, responsibilities, reporting 
relationships, as well as the integration of new employees into our company 
and offices in New Brunswick and Prince Edward Island. The magnitude of 
change is significant but I am very pleased with how our employees adjusted 
to this change. We recognize there are geographic challenges and there were 
certainly differences in culture, however, the Atlantic Central moved ahead 
with a very small number of people leaving our combined organization or not 
accepting job offers. This speaks very well for the culture of Atlantic Central and 
the relationship with our employees as they have had to deal with uncertainty 
and change for a number of years.

In New Brunswick we combined the offices of Atlantic Central and League 
Savings and Mortgage Company in the latter part of 2011 and this has 
benefitted our employees by bringing a stronger bond between League 
Savings and Atlantic Central in New Brunswick, and also resulted in certain 
efficiencies in our operation. 

Satisfaction Survey
Atlantic Central achieved an overall rating on our 2011 Satisfaction Survey 
of 83%. We are very pleased with this result, particularly in our first year of 
operation. However, there are a number of areas of the survey which we will be 
addressing throughout 2012 and beyond.  We continue to review all services and 
products provided by Atlantic Central and the Role & Relationship Committee 
will assist in determining the future direction and services and products to 
be offered by Atlantic Central. The Committee has spent considerable time 
examining and becoming familiar with our products and services, and 
determining the expectations of credit unions as we move forward. We do 
acknowledge that the final recommendations of this Committee may very well 
impact how Central operates in order to meet the needs of our credit unions. 

For the seventh 

year in a row, an 

independent survey 

of Canadians ranked 

credit unions first 

in overall quality 

of customer service 

among all financial 

institutions.
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International Year of Cooperatives 
As you well know the United Nations has designated 2012 as the International 
Year of Cooperatives. Therefore, it is fitting that we as a system acknowledge 
our challenges and celebrate our successes. For the seventh year in a row, an 
independent survey of Canadians ranked credit unions first in overall quality of 
customer service among all financial institutions. This Synovate Best Banking 
Award underlines that credit unions are demonstrating the cooperative 
difference.

Corporate Social Responsibility
An important differentiator for cooperatives and credit unions is the 
fundamental and integral place that “corporate social responsibility”, also 
called CSR (though we’ve traditionally called it “Concern for Community”) 
holds in our identity. CSR is an important part of our future, and coordinating 
our approach to charitable giving and philanthropic endeavours can only 
strengthen our community presence.

National System
Central has actively supported and participated in national initiatives this year 
including the CUCC Legislative Affairs Committee and CUCC’s Grassroots 
Lobby Project task force; the National Lenders Committee; the Finance Policy 
Committee of CUCC and its subgroups, the National Controllers, IFRS Advisory 
Group and the new Basel 3 Committee; the CUSOURCE Board of Directors; 
the National Treasury Managers Association(TMAG); National Financial 
Cooperatives Benefits Plan; and the Risk Management Policy Committee(RMPC). 
In addition, we had representation on a CUCC Committee that is working to 
build a relationship with the Business Development Corporation (BDC).

Conclusion
Special thanks to our Inaugural Board and Chair, David MacLean, for offering 
clear direction and vision, and for their support and guidance through a year 
of change; and to our management and to our staff, for continuing to offer 
dedicated, enthusiastic, knowledgeable support to credit unions, even when 
surrounded by change and upheaval.

We look forward to the challenges and opportunities of 2012 and beyond.

Bernie O’Neil,
President & CEO 
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Credit Union Central of Canada published a “Road Map for the Development of 
a Sustainability Strategy” in 2010. The paper notes that while Corporate Social 
Responsibility (CSR) as a trend is transforming the way businesses operate, 
“Credit unions are starting from an advantaged position. Returning profits to 
communities we serve through social responsibility initiatives is considered a 
core competency and point of differentiation for credit unions.”

Social responsibility and concern for sustainability is integral and natural to the 
credit union system. It’s embedded in our co-operative identity. Atlantic Central 
placed a priority in 2011 on establishing a Corporate Social Responsibility 
process that would ensure that the values of our credit union system were 
expressed in accordance with the seventh co-operative principle, concern for 
community: “Co-operatives work for the sustainable development of their 
communities through policies accepted by their members.”

A Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Committee was officially struck in the 
Fall of 2011. The current committee members are Chair Jim Johnson, Kevin 
MacAdam, Kurt Peacock, Louis Shea and Doug Dewling. There is representation 
from each Atlantic Province, by design. 

The committee has been reviewing and familiarizing themselves with the 
past priorities and work of our previous charitable foundation as well as the 
philanthropic culture of the three former centrals. They have developed terms 
of reference and criteria for charitable giving and sponsorships, awards and 
recognition programs and sustainability. 

Guidelines for charitable giving include four levels of consideration: regional, 
provincial, local and other specific requests. 

The CSR Committee also oversees the nomination and selection process for 
the Coady Award, and ensures that strategies and programs are in place to 
manage sustainability and reduce the environmental impact of our buildings 
and operations. 

Social Responsibility and 
Sustainability  

Atlantic Central’s Ready When the Time Comes volunteers 
received training at the Burnside Red Cross office in 2011.
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“Co-operatives work 

for the sustainable 

development of their 

communities through 

policies accepted by 

their members.”

Regional Charitable Giving and Sponsorships

Bursary Program
In recognition of the importance that the co-operative system places on lifelong 
learning (Co-operative Principle #5) Atlantic Central administers a bursary 
program throughout the region on behalf of Atlantic credit unions. This year, 
44 bursaries valued at $500 each were disbursed through the community 
colleges in each of the four provinces: NBCC, NSCC, College of the North 
Atlantic (NL) and Holland College (PEI). 

Recipients thank us:
“I am a recipient of the Atlantic Credit Unions Bursary and I wanted to send 
you a note to thank you for investing in my future. I wanted to let you know 
that your generosity truly does make a difference.” 

– Santina Beaton, 
   Wildlife Conservation Technology Program, Holland College.

“Thank you could never say how much I appreciate the Credit Unions of 
Newfoundland and Labrador Bursary valued at $500 you felt I deserved. It 
meant so much to me & my family! Thank you.” 

– Charlene Clark, 
   Northern Natural Resources Technician Program, CNA

Red Cross
Atlantic Central is proud to support the Red Cross in both their international 
and local disaster relief efforts. To that end, we have provided a $10,000 
donation in addition to the significant in-kind support that credit unions offer 
active campaigns through receiving donations at each credit union. In 2011, 
we supported the Asia-Pacific Tsunami Disaster Relief Appeal and the Horn 
of Africa Drought and Famine Relief Campaign. Atlantic Central and League 
Savings have also supported staff volunteering for the Ready When the Time 
Comes local disaster relief volunteer program. 

IYC 2012

With 2012 being designated the International Year of Co-operatives (IYC) by 
the United Nations, the Board and management agreed that it was important 
to demonstrate Co-operative Principle #6, Co-operation Among Co-operatives. 
To this end, Atlantic Central made a $30,000 donation to IYC in 2011 to be 
employed primarily by Atlantic provincial co-operative councils in building 
plans for 2012 that would promote credit unions and co-operatives. 
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Other

Other key sponsorships in 2011 were the annual Coady Celebrates Benefit 
Dinner in support of the Coady Institute, the New England Governors and 
Eastern Canadian Premiers’ Annual Conference, Atlantic Co-operative Youth 
Leadership (ACYL), and the annual League Data/CUSA Conference.

Provincial Charitable Giving and Sponsorships

Recipients of provincial donations and sponsorships in 2011 reflected to some 
extent commitments previously made by individual Centrals. The Nova Scotia 
Early Intervention Program and Kids Eat Smart (NL) each were supported. 
In addition, a contribution of $10,000 was added by Central to a previous 
commitment by PEI credit unions of $100,000 to Holland College. The College 
acknowledged this generosity by naming their central cafeteria the Credit 
Union Café. Sponsorships also went to the NSCC, the Credit Union Classic 
Hockey Tourney in NB, and PEI’s Relay for Life and Alzheimer’s Walk.

Atlantic Central and League Savings and Mortgage employees joined with 
their colleagues at League Data to support the United Way, IWK, Dragon Boat 
race for the Nova Scotia Amateur Sport Fund, and food banks. The companies 
supported these staff-led initiatives as well, with about $7,500 being donated. 
Finally, the CSR Committee provided a $10,000 budget for unforeseen 
philanthropy needs including In Memoriams and charity fundraisers.

Photos: 
Representatives of Atlantic 
Central joined our co-operative 
colleagues across the region on 
January 12, 2012, in celebrating 
the launch of the International 
Year of the Co-operatives.
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Management Discussion
and Analysis

Risk Management
Risk management is one of the most important responsibilities of Atlantic 
Central. Risk management objectives are reflected within the comprehensive 
risk management strategies and policies.

Central’s risk management strategies and policies are governed by the principle 
of optimizing risk for the protection and creation of shareholder value, and 
are designed to ensure that the company’s risk-taking is consistent with its 
business objectives and risk tolerance.

Central has an enterprise-wide capability to recognize, understand, measure, 
assess and manage risks taken across the organization. Authority for all 
risk-taking activities rests with the Board of Directors, which approves risk 
management policies, delegates limits and regularly reviews management’s 
risk assessments and compliance with approved policies. The Risk Committee 
of the Board is responsible for ensuring that management has developed and 
maintained an effective Enterprise  Risk Management Framework for evaluating 
the business strategies being used for allocation of human, capital and other 
resources. The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing all financial risk 
management policies.

The Management Finance Committee (MFC) is responsible for the review and 
evaluation of financial risks and performance. The MFC reviews financial risk 
management policies, recommends changes to policies and procedures as 
appropriate, and monitors compliance with financial policies. The Asset Liability 
Management Committee (ALCO) is responsible for ensuring the effective and 
prudent management of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities. ALCO 
achieves this by developing and implementing financial strategies and related 
processes consistent with the short and long terms goals set by the Board.

Qualified professionals throughout  Central manage these risks through 
comprehensive and integrated control processes and models, including regular 
review and assessment of risk measurement and reporting processes. The 
various processes within Central’s risk management framework are designed 
to ensure that risks in the various business activities are properly identified, 
measured, assessed and controlled. Internal Audit reports independently to 
the Audit Committee of the Board on the effectiveness of the risk management 
policies and the extent to which internal controls are in place and operating 
effectively.

The risks are summarized into the following categories: capital adequacy, 
governance, credit, legal and regulatory,  liquidity, market, operational, and 
strategic.
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Capital Adequacy Risk
Capital adequacy risk is the risk of financial loss or 
regulatory intervention due to the failure of Central 
to maintain the necessary capital to meet regulatory 
requirements and/or support its business plans.

Central has established capital management policies, 
which govern the quantity and quality of capital the 
company will maintain. In addition, a capital plan is prepared annually which 
forecasts the amount of capital required throughout  the year and the sources 
that will be used to fund those requirements. The capital policies and plans are 
reviewed and approved annually by the Board of Directors.

Management regularly monitors the company’s capital position and reports to 
the Board on a quarterly basis.

Governance Risk
Governance risk is the risk of financial and/or reputational impairment caused 
by lack of effectiveness of the Board of Directors and senior management.

Governance risk is mitigated through qualification criteria, orientation program, 
ongoing development and training, regular Board and committee meetings, 
the annual strategic planning process and an annual evaluation process.

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the potential for loss due to the failure of a borrower or counterparty 
to meet its financial or contractual obligation.

To ensure effective credit risk management, the company has established 
policies and procedures for credit risk. Credit policies are reviewed and 
approved annually by the Board of Directors. Management regularly reviews 
its credit procedures to ensure they provide extensive, up-to-date guidance for 
the underwriting and administration of all types of loans.

Procedures are in place governing credit activities including:

• Application of stringent underwriting criteria
• The use of qualified personnel and the clear delegation of decision
   making authority
• Portfolio diversification to mitigate credit exposure by establishing
   concentration limits
• Oversight by the Board and management committees before funding
   is permitted, and once approved, ongoing credit risk evaluation and
   assessment

 

 

Photo from left:
Sharon Arnold, SVP of Finance;
Michael Leonard, SVP of Operations;
Bernie O’Neil, President & CEO; 
Rick Parker, SVP of Corporate Services.
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Central maintains both specific and collective allowances for credit losses. 
Specific allowances are established based on management’s knowledge of the 
property and prevailing conditions. Collective allowances are maintained to 
cover any impairment in the loan portfolio that cannot yet be associated with 
specific loans. The collective allowance is determined based on the Company’s 
risk weighted portfolio and other factors including an assessment of market 
risk.

Management regularly monitors Central’s credit risk and reports to the Board 
on a quarterly basis.

Legal  and Regulatory Risk
Legal and regulatory risk is the risk of loss due to the failure to adhere to legal 
and regulatory standards.

Central is governed under the Canadian Co-operative Associations Act of 
Canada, is subject to provincial Credit  Union Acts in each of the Atlantic 
Provinces, and is regulated federally by the Office of the Superintendent of 
Financial Institutions (OSFI) and provincially by the Nova Scotia Superintendent 
of Credit Unions. Central also complies with New Brunswick, Newfoundland 
and Labrador, and Prince Edward Island legislation and regulation where 
applicable to its operations in those respective provinces. League Savings is 
governed by the Trust and Loan Companies Act of Canada and regulated
by OSFI. OSFI regularly reviews the activities of Central and League Savings and 
periodically carries out on-site examinations. All correspondence to and from 
OSFI is reported to the Board of Directors by management. League Savings is 
also a member of the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation.

Central maintains a legislative and policy compliance management system 
in which all legislative and policy requirements are regularly reviewed and 
reported on. New policies and procedures are developed to address legislative 
requirements as appropriate.

The Board of Directors receives a quarterly compliance report in which any 
deficiencies and corresponding action plans are identified.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk of being unable to meet financial commitments without 
having to raise funds at unreasonable prices or sell assets on a forced basis.

Central has established policies to ensure the company is able to generate 
sufficient funds to meet all of its financial commitments in a timely and cost-
effective manner. In addition, a liquidity plan is prepared which forecasts the 
amount of liquidity required and the sources that will be used to fund those 
requirements. These policies and plans are annually reviewed and approved by 
the Board of Directors.
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Central’s liquidity management practices include:

• Ensuring the quality of investments acquired for liquidity purposes 
   meet very high standards
• Matching the maturities of assets and liabilities
• Diversifying funding sources
• Establishing and maintaining minimum liquidity reserves
• Monitoring  actual cash flows on a daily basis
• Forecasting future cash flow requirements
• Utilizing lines of credit to fund temporary needs and
   selling or securitizing mortgage pools to meet longer term 
   requirements
• Stress testing and contingency planning

Management monitors Central’s liquidity position daily and reports to the 
Board on a quarterly basis.

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk of loss that results from changes in interest rates, foreign 
exchange rates, equity prices and commodity prices.

Market risk exposures are managed through policies, standards and limits 
established by the Board of Directors, which are formally reviewed and 
approved annually. Central uses a variety of techniques to identify, measure 
and control market risk. Derivatives may be used only to offset clearly identified 
risks. The company has developed standards regarding the use of derivative 
products.

Interest rate risk is the potential impact on Central’s earnings due to changes 
in interest rates. This risk comes mainly from differences in the maturities or 
re-pricing dates of assets and liabilities, both on and off-balance sheet. Credit 
union liquidity investments are re-priced on a monthly basis. Mortgage and 
deposit products often have maturities that extend one or more years into the 
future. Central has developed standards with respect to the matching of assets 
and liabilities. In addition, Central uses a combination of static gap and income 
simulation models to measure and monitor interest rate risk exposure under 
various interest rate scenarios.

Sensitivity analysis of an interest rate increase and decrease of
100 basis points is illustrated in the table below.

Earnings at risk over the next 12 months as at December 31: 

(Dollars)         2011        2010  
100 basis point increase (488,000)  (363,000) 
100 basis point decrease   440,000  355,000 
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Foreign exchange risk is the potential impact on Central’s earnings due to 
currency movements. Central’s foreign exchange policies and procedures 
outline permissible types of transactions, authorizations, limits, and monitoring  
and reporting requirements. Central is authorized to hold up to $250,000 
CAD in excess of, or short of its foreign currency liabilities. Central’s exposure 
to foreign exchange fluctuations is monitored on a daily basis.

Equity and commodity risk is the potential impact on Central’s earnings due to 
movements in equity and commodity prices. Central does not have significant 
business activities in equities or commodities and, as such, is not exposed to 
material risk in these areas.

Management provides quarterly reports to the Board on market risk.

Operational Risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss resulting from inadequate or 
failed processes, technology or human performance, or from external events.

While operational risk can never be fully eliminated, Central manages this type 
of risk through implementation of a comprehensive set of procedures and 
policies. Elements include:

• Developing and maintaining a comprehensive system of internal 
   controls, encompassing segregation of functional activities, 
   managerial reporting and delegation of authority
• Striving to maintain industry best practices in the area of operational 
   risk management through continued monitoring  and evaluation of 
   our practices
• Selection and training of highly qualified staff, supported by policies 
   that provide for skills upgrading, clear authorization levels and 
   adherence to an employee code of conduct
• Maintaining adequate insurance to reduce the impact
   of any potential losses, supported by a detailed business 
   continuity plan

Strategic Risk
Strategic risk is the risk of loss due to failure to create, implement and monitor 
an effective strategic plan, including procedures for the development and 
review of new business initiatives and changing business circumstances.

Strategic priorities for the next 12-18 months are established during the Annual 
Board and Management Planning Session. Management then develops the 
annual business plan for approval by the Board. Management reports to the 
Board on the progress towards achieving the annual business plan at each 
regular Board meeting. Credit unions are also provided with regular progress 
reports.
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Management’s Responsibility For Financial Statements 

 

Management has the responsibility of preparing the accompanying consolidated financial statements and ensuring that 
all information in the annual report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements. This responsibility includes 
selecting appropriate accounting principles and making objective judgements and estimates in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards. 

In discharging its responsibility for the integrity and fairness of the consolidated financial statements, management 
designs and maintains the necessary accounting systems and related internal controls to provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are authorized, assets safeguarded and proper records maintained. The Board of Directors has appointed 
an Audit Committee to review the annual financial statements with management and auditors before final approval by 
the Board.  

Both the federal and provincial regulators of financial institutions may conduct examinations and make such enquiries 
into the affairs of Atlantic Central (formerly Credit Union Central of Nova Scotia) and its subsidiary as they deem 
necessary to ensure the safety of depositors and members of Atlantic Central and to ensure that Atlantic Central is in 
sound financial condition. Their findings are reported directly to management.  

Grant Thornton LLP, the independent auditors, have examined the consolidated financial statements of Atlantic Central in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and have expressed their opinion in the following 
report to members. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bernie O’Neil 

President and CEO 

 

 

 

 

 

Sharon Arnold, CA 

Senior Vice-President Finance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



2121

Independent Auditors’ Report 

To the members of Atlantic Central 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Atlantic Central (the “Central”, formerly Credit 
Union Central of Nova Scotia), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2011, the statements 
of comprehensive income, changes in members’ equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements  

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Central’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Central’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Atlantic Central as at December 31, 2011, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Comparative information 

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements which describes 
that Atlantic Central adopted International Financial Reporting Standards on January 1, 2011 with a transition date of 
January 1, 2010. These standards were applied retrospectively by management to the comparative information in these 
consolidated financial statements, including the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2010 and January 1, 
2010, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in members’ equity and cash flows for the year 
ended December 31, 2010 and related disclosures. We were not engaged to report on the restated comparative 
information, and as such, it is unaudited. 

 

 

 

 

Grant Thornton LLP 

Chartered Accountants 

 

 

 

February 21, 2012 

Halifax, Canada 
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Consolidated Balance Sheet 
 
December 31 January 1,

(Cdn Dollars) Note 2011 2010 2010

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 42,922,844       $ 34,172,864   $ 23,970,414   

Investments 5 506,991,451     312,146,088 273,931,250 

Loans and mortgages 6 457,294,074     482,295,018 498,789,020 

Accrued interest 4,877,363        4,270,318     4,119,559     

Fixed assets 7 4,620,091        2,895,973     2,878,482     

Deferred tax asset 11 1,031,068        833,608        583,200        

Other assets 5,695,193        3,692,264     2,554,035     

$ 1,023,432,084  $ 840,306,133 $ 806,825,960 

Liabilities

Deposits 15 $ 921,771,668     $ 756,498,568 $ 721,848,677 

Accrued interest 4,939,509        5,705,194     6,514,973     

Accounts payable and accrued 7,192,530        10,755,691   9,858,690     

Income tax payable 529,461           -                  46,253         

Subordinated debt 17 7,102,000        7,102,000     7,102,000     

941,535,168     780,061,453 745,370,593 

Members' equity

Capital stock 8 40,213,482       25,665,600   26,053,960   

Contributed surplus 6,018,056        -                  -                  

Retained earnings 18,728,304       18,012,974   17,684,622   

Accumulated other comprehensive income 2,950,334        2,579,366     3,730,045     

67,910,176       46,257,940   47,468,627   

Minority Interest in subsidiary 20 13,986,740       13,986,740   13,986,740   

81,896,916       60,244,680   61,455,367   

$ 1,023,432,084  $ 840,306,133 $ 806,825,960 

Commitments and contractual obligations 10

 
 
Approved: On Behalf of the Board:  
 
 
 
 
 
Bernie O’Neil 
President and CEO 

Dave MacLean
Chair 

Doug Dewling
Director 

 
 
See accompanying notes to the financial statements  
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
 
Year Ended December 31
(Cdn Dollars) Note 2011 2010

(Unaudited)
Financial income
Interest on investments $ 10,876,389   $ 6,597,532     
Interest on loans and mortgages 24,229,018   26,394,665   

35,105,407   32,992,197   
Financial expense 17,344,212   15,609,738   
Gross financial margin 17,761,195   17,382,459   
Provision for losses (recovery) (97,387)        262,698        
Net financial margin 17,858,582   17,119,761   
Other financial income 729,262        867,581        
Net financial income 18,587,844   17,987,342   
Other income 18 9,976,172     6,650,062     

28,564,016   24,637,404   

Operating expenses
Salaries and staff related 9,408,252     8,095,560     
Employee Benefits 1,343,513     1,109,835     
Office expense 3,055,585     2,370,223     
Marketing and business development 1,295,731     756,213        
Democracy 1,403,288     804,131        
Professional Fees 620,982        441,391        
Other expenses 502,119        367,585        

17,629,470   13,944,938   
Operating income 10,934,546   10,692,466   
Atlantic Central transaction costs 769,320        228,877        
Distributions 6,061,494     8,359,072     
Income before taxes 4,103,732     2,104,517     
Income taxes 11 1,478,858     785,344        
Net income $ 2,624,874     $ 1,319,173     

Other comprehensive income (loss)
Net change in unrealized gains (losses)
    on available for sale investments 622,202        (1,565,551)    
Income taxes relating to other comprehensive income 11 (251,234)      414,872        

370,968        (1,150,679)    
Comprehensive income $ 2,995,842     $ 168,494        

Net income attributable to:
Minority interest - Preferred shareholders of subsidary 419,602        419,602        
Shareholders 2,205,272     899,571        

$ 2,624,874     $ 1,319,173     
Comprehensive income attributable to:
Minority interest - Preferred shareholders of subsidary 419,602        419,602        
Shareholders 2,576,240     (251,108)      

$ 2,995,842     $ 168,494        
 

 
See accompanying notes to the financial statements 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
 
Year Ended December 31

(Cdn Dollars) 2011 2010

(Unaudited)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Operating activities

Income before taxes $ 4,103,732          $ 2,104,517          

Adjustments:

Loans and mortgages, net 25,267,583        16,494,002        

Deposits, net (59,518,817)       34,649,891        

Depreciation 664,671             537,800             

Interest receivable/payable, net (1,372,730)         (960,538)            

Taxes paid, net of refunds (80,225)             (1,012,848)         

Other items, net (7,394,870)         (1,880,667)         

(38,330,656)       49,932,157        

Financing activities

Net proceeds from (redemptions) issuance of capital 4,576,900          (388,360)            

Dividends, net of income tax recovery (128,164)            (571,219)            

4,448,736          (959,579)            

Investing activities

Investments, net 43,664,547        (38,214,838)       

Fixed assets, net (1,032,647)         (555,290)            

42,631,900        (38,770,128)       

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 8,749,980          10,202,450        

Cash and cash equivalents (net)

Beginning of year 34,172,864        23,970,414        

End of year $ 42,922,844        $ 34,172,864        

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information

    Interest received $ 34,881,045        $ 32,939,928        

Dividends received 120,643             186,077             

Interest paid 18,649,868        16,773,095        

 
 
 
 
 
 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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Notes to Financial Statements – December 31, 2011 

 

 

1. Reporting entity 

Atlantic Central (“the Company” or “the Central”) is incorporated in Nova Scotia under the Credit Union Act.   The 
Company is regulated by the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions (OSFI).   On January 1, 2011, pursuant 
to a Definitive Combination Agreement dated June 30, 2010, the Company purchased the assets and assumed the 
liabilities of Credit Union Central of New Brunswick and Credit Union Central of Prince Edward Island (Note 22).  With the 
proclamation of amended Credit Union legislation in each of Nova Scotia, New Brunswick and Prince Edward Island, the 
three Centrals have completed a business combination to form Atlantic Central.   

Atlantic Central is the continuance of Credit Union Central of Nova Scotia and is owned by credit unions in the Atlantic 
Provinces.  Its Head Office is located at 6074 Lady Hammond Road in Halifax, Nova Scotia, and the Company also 
operates out of offices in Sydney, Nova Scotia, Riverview, New Brunswick and Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island.  The 
Company’s key financial role is the management of the Atlantic credit union system’s liquidity reserve requirements.  
Additionally, Central provides financial, trade association, and other support services to Atlantic credit unions, their 
members, and others.    

 

2. Basis of presentation 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).  These are the Company’s first financial 
statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.  The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements are set out in Note 3.  The Company has applied IFRS 1 - First-time Adoption of 
International Financial Reporting Standards in preparing these first IFRS consolidated financial statements.  An explanation 
of the impact of the transition to IFRS is provided in Note 22. 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the subsidiary, League Savings and Mortgage Company 
(League Savings).  Significant inter-company transactions and account balances have been eliminated from the 
consolidated accounts.  The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for 
certain financial instruments as indicated in Note 3. 

In preparing the Company’s financial statements, management is required to make estimates, judgments and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at 
the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the period.  Actual results 
could differ from those estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 
to accounting estimates are recorded in the period in which the estimate reversed if the revision affects only that period 
or in the period of revision and in future periods if the revision affects both the current and future periods.  

The judgments that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements are with 
respect to the allowance for loan losses, as detailed in Note 3.  

The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on February 21, 2012 

 

3. Summary of significant accounting policies 

Financial instruments  

Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and are subsequently accounted for based on their 
classification as described below.  

Financial assets must be classified as fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), available for sale (AFS), held-to-maturity 
(HTM) or loans and receivables (L&R).  Financial liabilities are required to be classified as (FVTPL) or other financial 
liabilities (OFL).  All financial instruments, including all derivatives, are measured at fair value on the balance sheet with 
the exception of loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and other financial liabilities which are measured at 
amortized cost. 
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Changes in fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities classified as FVTPL are reported in earnings, while the 
changes in value of available for sale financial assets are reported within Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) until the 
financial asset is disposed of, or becomes impaired.   

Accumulated OCI is reported on the balance sheet as a separate component of Members’ Equity.  It includes, on a net of 
taxes basis, the net unrealized gains and losses on available for sale financial assets.  The Company has classified its 
financial instruments as follows: 

FVTPL Cash and cash equivalents 

AFS Investments 

L&R Loans and mortgages and accrued interest 

OFL Borrowings, deposits, accrued interest, accounts payable and accrued and 
subordinated debentures 

 

Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, and balances with financial institutions. 

 

Investments 

Investments have been designated as available for sale.  Investments are initially recorded at cost with premiums and 
discounts amortized to maturity.  Except as noted below, investments are reported at market value with any unrealized 
gains or losses reported in OCI.   

Certain investments in Co-operative partners are reported at cost, as fair value cannot be reliably measured. 

Investment income is recognized on an accrual basis.  Realized gains and losses on the disposal of securities are included 
in investment income.  All securities are held for investment purposes. 

 

Loans and mortgages 

Loans and mortgages have been designated as loans and receivables.  Loans and mortgages are net of allowances 
established to recognize anticipated losses.  The amount provided for anticipated loan losses is determined by reference 
to specific loans or mortgages in arrears and by the judgement of management. 

Loans are assessed for impairment either individually, where appropriate, or collectively.  A collective allowance has been 
established to provide for losses on loans and mortgages where past experience and existing economic and portfolio 
conditions indicate that losses have occurred, but where such losses cannot be specifically identified on an account-by-
account basis. 

The collective allowance is determined based on management’s judgment considering business and economic conditions, 
portfolio composition, historical credit performance and other relevant factors.  Pools of loans are assessed based on 
attributes specific to a defined group of borrowers and considers other characteristics that directly affect the collectability 
of loans that are unique to the defined group of borrowers (such as inherent credit risk, industry, and geography).  Each 
pool of loans is assigned a portfolio risk factor, which is used to determine a base amount required for the collective 
allowance.  This base amount is adjusted to reflect the fluctuations in market conditions that most highly correlate with 
credit losses. 

Real estate held for resale is carried at the market value of the loan or mortgage foreclosed, adjusted for estimates of 
revenues to be received and costs to be incurred subsequent to foreclosure, and the estimated net proceeds from the sale 
of the assets.  

The subsidiary company periodically sells or purchases mortgages, primarily to or from credit unions.  In these 
transactions, the seller continues to administer the loans sold, but the contractual right to receive payments on the loans 
is offset by an obligation to transfer these payments to the purchaser, and the loans sold by the subsidiary are 
derecognized, and the loans purchased are recognized, on the date of the transfer. 
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Mortgage securitization 

The Central’s mortgage securitization program expands the lending capacity of League Savings and Mortgage Company, 
whereby eligible mortgages are financed by external investors through an independent securitization vehicle. 

These transactions are accounted for as sales when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred 
and there is reasonable assurance regarding the measurement of the consideration derived from the sale.  No gain or loss 
on the initial sale has been recorded by the Company as a result of these transactions.  Fees earned to service the 
securitized mortgages are recognized as services are provided and reported in earnings as other income. 

The Securitization Agreement provides for the payment to the Company of the deferred proceeds of sale when the 
interest collected from borrowers exceeds the yield paid to investors on the assets, credit losses, and other costs. 

 

Fixed assets 

Land is carried at cost.  Buildings, equipment and improvements are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation.  
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets.  The useful 
life and residual value of fixed assets are reviewed at least annually.  Depreciation rates are as follows: 

Buildings and improvements   2-10% 

Furniture and equipment 20-33% 

 

Impairment 

Investments are reviewed for impairment on at least an annual basis.  Changes in the fair value of available for sale 
investments are reported in Other Comprehensive Income.  If the investment is impaired, however, any cumulative losses 
previously recognized in OCI are reclassified from equity to net income. 

Loans and mortgages are classified as impaired at the earlier of when, in the opinion of management, there is reasonable 
doubt as to the collectability of principal or interest, or when interest or principal is contractually past due 90 days, unless 
the loan or mortgage is both well secured and in the process of collection.  Interest on an impaired loan or mortgage 
continues to be recognized in earnings on an accrual basis and is provided for in the allowance for loan losses. 

Non-financial assets are assessed for impairment at least annually and, where impairment exists, the carrying value is 
reduced to the recoverable amount. 

 

Revenue and expense recognition 

Except as described below, revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to 
the Company and the revenue can readily be measured.  The principle sources of revenue are interest and fee income. 
Operating expenses are recognized upon the utilization of the services or at the date of their origin.   

Interest on loans and mortgages is recognized and reported on an accrual basis using the effective interest method.  
Expenses incurred directly in the origination of loans and mortgages are deferred and recognized in the income 
statement, as a reduction to income over the expected life of the relevant loans and mortgages. 

The Company periodically sells mortgages.  Gains or losses are recognized on transfers of mortgages to other parties 
when the Company has transferred the significant risks and rewards of ownership.  Where the Company continues to 
service the mortgages, an administration fee is calculated on the outstanding balance of the mortgages.  This fee is 
recognized as the services are provided and reported in earnings as other income. 

 

Leases 

A lease transfers the economic ownership of a leased asset if the lessee bears substantially all the risks and rewards related 
to the ownership of the leased asset. The related asset is then recognized at the inception of the lease at the fair value of 
the leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the lease payments plus incidental payments, if any. A corresponding 
amount is recognized as a finance leasing liability. 
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All other leases are treated as operating leases. Payments on operating lease agreements are recognized as an expense on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Associated costs, such as maintenance and insurance, are expensed as incurred. 

 

Income taxes 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in net income 
except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognized directly in equity or in other 
comprehensive income. 

Current income taxes are recognized for the estimated income taxes payable or receivable on taxable income or loss for 
the current year and any adjustment to income taxes payable in respect of previous years. Current income taxes are 
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. This amount is determined 
using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the year-end date. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized where the carrying amount of an asset or liability differs from its tax base, 
except for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill and temporary differences arising 
on the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the 
transaction affects neither accounting or taxable profit or loss. 

Recognition of deferred tax assets for unused tax (losses), tax credits and deductible temporary differences is restricted to 
those instances where it is probable that future taxable profit will be available which allow the deferred tax asset to be 
utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 

The amount of the deferred tax asset or liability is measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the 
taxation authorities. This amount is determined using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the year-end date and are expected to apply when the liabilities / (assets) are settled / (recovered). 

 

Deposits 

Deposits are measured at fair value on recognition net of transaction costs directly attributable to issuance.  Subsequent 
measurement is at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

 

Business Combinations 

Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method.  The purchase method involves the recognition of 
the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities, including contingent liabilities, regardless of whether they were recorded 
in the financial statements prior to acquisition.  On initial recognition, the assets and liabilities of the acquired entity are 
included in the consolidated balance sheet at their fair values, which are also used as the bases for subsequent 
measurement in accordance with the Company’s accounting policies 

 

Employee Benefits  

Short-term employee benefits include salaries and wages, compensated absences, medical and dental plans, and variable 
compensation.  The Company also contributes on behalf of employees to a Group Savings for Retirement Program and to 
life and long-term disability insurance plans.  Under these defined contribution programs the company pays fixed 
contributions to an independent entity and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions.  These 
costs are expensed as the related service is provided, and are reported in income as employee benefits.  

 

Changes in accounting standards  

A number of new standards, and amendments to standards and interpretations, are not yet effective for the year ended 
December 31, 2011 and have not yet been adopted by the Company in preparing these consolidated financial 
statements.  Other than the introduction of IFRS 9, these changes are not expected to have a material impact on the 
financial statements.   
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IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments 

In November 2009, the IASB issued IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments, introducing new requirements for classifying and 
measuring financial assets. This new standard replaces the requirements in IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement for classification and measurement of financial assets.  IFRS 9 is the first part of a multi-phase project to 
replace IAS 39.  The main features of the new standard are:  

 

 A financial asset will be classified as either fair value or amortized cost.  The available-for-sale, held-to-maturity 
and loans and receivables categories will no longer exist. 

 Classification of financial assets is based on the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset and their 
contractual cash flow characteristics. 

 Changes in the fair value of financial assets classified as fair value are recognized in profit or loss, except for equity 
investments not held for trading, which may be held at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

 

IFRS 9 is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  Earlier application is permitted.  The impact of 
IRFS 9 on the Company has not yet been determined. 

 

 

Comparative figures 

 

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the presentation adopted for 2011.  The comparative 
figures in the notes to financial statements are unaudited.. 

 

 

4.  Risk management 

The Company has an enterprise-wide approach to the identification, measurement, monitoring and management of risks 
faced across the organization.  Authority for all risk-taking activities rests with the Board of Directors (Board), which 
approves risk management policies, delegates’ limits and regularly reviews management’s risk assessments and 
compliance with approved policies.  Qualified professionals throughout the Company manage these risks through 
comprehensive and integrated control processes and models, including regular review and assessment of risk 
measurement and reporting processes.   

The various processes within the Company’s risk management framework are designed to ensure that risks in the various 
business activities are properly identified, measured, assessed and controlled.  Internal Audit reports independently to the 
Audit, Risk & Conduct Review Committee of the Board on the effectiveness of the risk management policies and the 
extent to which internal controls are in place and operating effectively. 

The Management Finance Committee (MFC) is responsible for the review and evaluation of the financial risks and 
performance of the Company, including the management of: 

 

 Credit risk  Liquidity 
 Interest rate risk   Foreign exchange 
 Investment portfolio  Derivatives 
 Large exposures  Capital 

 

The MFC reviews financial risk management policies, recommends changes to policies and procedures as appropriate, 
and monitors compliance with financial policies.    
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The Asset Liability Management Committee (ALCO) has been established to ensure the effective and prudent 
management of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities.  ALCO will achieve this by developing and implementing 
financial strategies and related processes consistent with the short and long term goals set by the Board.   

 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the potential for loss due to the failure of a borrower, endorser or guarantor to fulfill its payment obligation 
to the Company.   

The Company has established policies and procedures for credit risk management.  Management of credit risk requires 
prudent and conservative underwriting criteria administered by well-trained and experienced personnel.  Credit risk 
management practices also include consistent and timely collection procedures, conservative analysis of property 
appraisals, and a realistic loan allowance process to provide a regular evaluation of the loan portfolio.  Credit policies are 
reviewed and approved annually by the Board.  Management regularly reviews its credit procedures to ensure they 
provide extensive, up-to-date guidance for the underwriting and administration of all types of loans.   

All residential and non-residential loans are risk rated at the time of approval, and thereafter the risk rating of non-
residential loans are updated as part of an annual review process.  Loans with higher risk require more intensive analysis 
and higher levels of approval.  The Credit Committee of the Board reviews all loans above the lending limits of 
management.   

The Company maintains both specific and collective allowances for credit losses.  Specific allowances are established 
based on management’s knowledge of the property and prevailing conditions.  Collective allowances are maintained to 
cover any impairment in the loan portfolio that cannot yet be associated with specific loans.  The collective allowance is 
determined based on the Company’s risk weighted portfolio and other factors including an assessment of market risk. 

Management regularly monitors the Company’s credit risk and reports to the Board on a quarterly basis. 

 

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk of being unable to meet financial commitments without having to raise funds at unreasonable 
prices or sell assets on a forced basis.  The Company has established policies to ensure the Company is able to generate 
sufficient funds to meet all of its financial commitments in a timely and cost-effective manner.  In addition, a liquidity plan 
is prepared which forecasts the amount of liquidity required and the sources that will be used to fund those requirements.  
These policies and plans are annually reviewed and approved by the Board.   

The Company’s liquidity management practices include: 

 Ensuring the quality of investments acquired for liquidity purposes meet very high standards  

 Matching the maturities of assets and liabilities  

 Diversifying funding sources  

 Establishing and maintaining minimum liquidity reserves  

 Monitoring actual cash flows on a daily basis  

 Forecasting future cash flow requirements 

 Utilizing lines of credit to fund temporary needs and selling or securitizing mortgage pools to meet longer term 
requirements 

 Scenario testing and contingency planning  

 

Management monitors the Company’s liquidity position daily and reports to the Board on a quarterly basis.   
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Market Risk 

 

Market risk is the risk of loss that results from changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity prices and 
commodity prices.  Market risk exposures are managed through policies, standards and limits established by the Board, 
which are formally reviewed and approved annually.   

The Company uses a variety of techniques to identify, measure and control market risk.  Derivatives may be used only to 
offset clearly identified risks.  The Company has developed standards regarding the use of derivative products.   

Interest rate risk is the risk that a movement in interest rates will have on the financial condition of the Company.  The 
Company’s interest rate risk policies include limits on the allowable variation in forecasted financial margin due to interest 
rate changes.  The Company manages and controls interest rate risk primarily by managing asset/ liability maturities; 
however, off-balance sheet techniques such as interest rate risk contracts may be used to hedge against specific interest 
rate exposures.   

The Company measures interest rate risk through a combination of gap and simulation analysis on a quarterly basis.  
Gap analysis measures the difference between the amount of assets and liabilities repricing in specific time periods.  
Income simulation models are used to measure interest rate exposure under various assumptions about interest rates, 
products, volumes and pricing.  Sensitivity analysis of an interest rate increase and decrease of 100 basis points is 
disclosed in the table below.   

 

Earnings at risk over the next 12 months as at December 31:  

 

2011 2010

100 basis point increase (488,000)     (363,000)   

100 basis point decrease 440,000      355,000    

 

 

Management provides quarterly reports to the Board on interest rate risk.  The Board has established limits on the 
Company’s maximum exposure to interest rate risk, and the Company’s earnings at risk were within this limit. 

 

 

 

5.  Investments 

2011 2011 2010 2010 
Cost Market Value Cost Market Value 

Bank paper $ 133,320,698     $ 133,729,075     $ 107,106,238   $ 107,719,334   

Government debt 66,662,690       68,498,290       17,102,869     17,814,038     

Corporate debt 71,473,290       72,207,249       56,035,629     56,566,309     

Co-operative deposits 225,481,375     225,703,059     124,230,290   124,538,639   

Co-operative equities 5,599,677        5,608,438         4,165,967       4,165,968       

Corporate equities 112,461           1,245,340         112,961         1,341,800       

$ 502,650,191     $ 506,991,451     $ 308,753,954   $ 312,146,088   
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6.  Loans and mortgages 

Total Impaired Total Specific Net 
Loans Loans Allowance Allowance Loans 

2011 ( included  in  
t o t al  al lo wance)

Insured residential mortgages $ 329,765,835   $ -                $ 192,794      $ -             $ 329,573,041    
Uninsured residential mortgages 125,137,728   248,315      452,221      17,099    124,685,507    
Loans & non-residential mortgages 66,076,678     1,353,435   1,359,405   267,285   64,717,273     
Co-operatives 16,314,575     -                -                -             16,314,575     
Real estate held for sale 771,618          -                -                -             771,618          

538,066,434   1,601,750   2,004,420   284,384   536,062,014    
Less: under administration:
  Residential insured 71,345,454     -                -                -             71,345,454     
  Residential uninisured 7,422,486       -                -                -             7,422,486       

78,767,940     -                -                -             78,767,940     
$ 459,298,494   $ 1,601,750   $ 2,004,420   $ 284,384   $ 457,294,074    

2010 

Insured residential mortgages $ 333,297,994   $ -                $ 475,204      $ -             $ 332,822,790    
Uninsured residential mortgages 130,430,639   141,827      472,122      9,283      129,958,517    
Loans & non-residential mortgages 67,708,414     1,128,953   1,154,481   305,866   66,553,933     
Co-operatives 7,956,849       -                -                -             7,956,849       
Real estate held for sale 819,944          -                -                -             819,944          

540,213,840   1,270,780   2,101,807   315,149   538,112,033    
Less: under administration:
  Residential insured 51,868,986     -                -                -             51,868,986     
  Residential uninisured 3,948,029       -                -                -             3,948,029       

55,817,015     -                -                -             55,817,015     
$ 484,396,825   $ 1,270,780   $ 2,101,807   $ 315,149   $ 482,295,018    

 
 
Continuity of allowance for loan losses 2011 2010 
Allowance, beginning of year $ 2,101,807   $ 1,714,474       
Recoveries -                124,635          
Loan loss provisions (recoveries) (97,387)      262,698          
Allowance, end of year $ 2,004,420   $ 2,101,807       

 
 
The following is an analysis of loans that are impaired or may become impaired based on the age of repayments 
outstanding: 

2011 2010 
31 to 60 days $ 1,964,951   $ 1,875,327       
61 to 90 days 639,495      137,894          
91 to 120 days 681,540      1,201,647       
over 120 days 580,114      33,457            

$ 3,866,100   $ 3,248,325       
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7.  Fixed assets 

 

Buildings and Furniture and 
2011 Land Improvements Equipment Total 

Gross carrying amount

Balance at January 1 $ 351,522     $ 4,153,129       $ 5,666,386     $ 10,171,037  

Additions -               833,917          216,926        1,050,843    

Acquisitions through business combination 223,481     1,110,605       22,056          1,356,142    

Disposals -               -                     (51,991)         (51,991)       

Balance at December 31 575,003     6,097,651       5,853,377     12,526,031  

Accumulated Depreciation

Balance at January 1 -               (2,217,570)      (5,057,494)    (7,275,064)   

Disposals -               -                     33,795          33,795        

Depreciation -               (273,168)         (391,503)       (664,671)     

Balance at December 31 -               (2,490,738)      (5,415,202)    (7,905,940)   

Carrying amount December 31 $ 575,003     $ 3,606,913       $ 438,175        $ 4,620,091    

2010

Gross carrying amount

Balance at January 1 $ 351,522     $ 3,887,203       $ 5,377,021     $ 9,615,746    

Additions -               265,926          289,365        555,291       

Acquisitions through business combination -               -                     -                   -                 

Disposals -               -                     -                   -                 

Balance at December 31 351,522     4,153,129       5,666,386     10,171,037  

Accumulated Depreciation

Balance at January 1 -               (2,029,745)      (4,707,520)    (6,737,265)   

Disposals -               -                     -                   -                 

Depreciation -               (187,825)         (349,974)       (537,799)     

Balance at December 31 -               (2,217,570)      (5,057,494)    (7,275,064)   

Carrying amount December 31 $ 351,522     $ 1,935,559       $ 608,892        $ 2,895,973    
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8.  Capital stock 

 

Authorized capital stock, and the amounts outstanding, are as follows: 

Par Redemption Authorized Shares Amount Shares Amount 
Value Price

Opening balance 2,156,988 $ 21,569,880 2,200,013 $ 22,000,130 
     Issued 2,108,004 21,080,040 800          8,000         
     Redeemed (243,656)   (2,436,560)  (43,825)     (438,250)     
Common shares None None $ Unlimited 4,021,336 40,213,360 2,156,988 21,569,880 

Opening balance 409,572    $ 4,095,720   405,383    $ 4,053,830   
     Issued -               -                4,199        41,990        
     Redeemed (409,572)   (4,095,720)  (10)           (100)           
Preferred Shares - Class A None None None -               -                409,572    4,095,720   

Opening balance -               $ -                -               $ -                
     Issued 31,991      32              -               -                
     Redeemed -               -                -               -                
Preferred Shares - Class B $ 0.001 $ 100 $ 10,000,000 31,991      32              -               -                

Opening balance -               $ -                -               $ -                
     Issued 32,500      33              -               -                
     Redeemed (5,800)      (6)              -               -                
Preferred Shares - Class NB $ 0.001 $ 100 $ 10,000,000 26,700      27              -               -                

Opening balance -               $ -                -               $ -                
     Issued 4,100        4                -               -                
     Redeemed -               -                -               -                
Preferred Shares - Class NL $ 0.001 $ 100 $ 10,000,000 4,100        4                -               -                

Opening balance -               $ -                -               $ -                
     Issued 77,270      77              -               -                
     Redeemed (17,910)     (18)             -               -                
Preferred Shares - Class NS $ 0.001 $ 100 $ 10,000,000 59,360      59              -               -                

Opening balance -               $ -                -               $ -                
     Issued 100          -                -               -                
     Redeemed -               -                -               -                
Preferred Shares - Class PEI $ 0.001 $ 100 $ 10,000,000 100          -                -               -                

4,143,587 $ 40,213,482 2,566,560 $ 25,665,600

Outstanding
20102011 

Shares are owned by member Credit Unions, who must maintain Common Shares in amounts proportionate to that 
member’s pro-rata share of System Assets.  Common Share ownership requirements are determined by the Board.  All 
classes of shares are non-voting.  Members hold votes proportionate to their pro-rata share of System Assets.  

There were 10,000,000 Class A shares authorized as at December, 31, 2010.  The shares outstanding at that date were 
redeemed in the Atlantic Central transaction in 2011 and are no longer included in the Company’s authorized capital.  

All of the Class B, Class NB, Class NL, Class NS and Class PEI shares were issued as part of the business combination 
described in Note 18.  The Company may at any time, upon providing 30 days notice, and subject to any limitations set 
by applicable legislation or the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions, redeem these shares for the 
redemption price.  To achieve the rebalancing required by the business combination certain of these shares were 
redeemed. The Company has no plans to redeem any of the remaining Class B, Class NB, Class NL, Class NS or Class PEI 
shares at this time.  The redemption value of the remaining shares is $12,225,100.   
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Common shareholders have the right to receive any dividends that may be declared out of the ordinary income of the 
Company.  Holders of the Class B, Class NB, Class NL, Class NS and Class PEI shares have the right to receive any 
dividends that may be declared out of the extraordinary income of the Company on that respective class of shares.  
Ordinary income refers to income earned in the ordinary course of business after January 1, 2011.  Extraordinary income 
refers to income which does not typically result from normal business activities. 

9.  Financial instruments 

 

a) Interest rate risk 

The Company earns and pays interest on certain assets and liabilities.  To the extent that the assets, liabilities and financial 
instruments mature or reprice at different points in time, the Company is exposed to interest rate risk.  The table below 
summarizes carrying amounts of balance sheet instruments by the earlier of the contractual repricing or maturity dates. 

An estimate of prepayments has been determined by management and includes the estimated principal portion of 
regular mortgage payments and full payouts of mortgage loans during their term based upon historical trends for these 
types of payments. 

(Reported in $000's) Within 3 Months 1 Year Over 5 Non-Interest Average
3 Months to 1 Year to 5 Years Years Sensitive Total Rate

2011 %
Assets
Cash and investments $ 215,959    $ 189,335    $ 117,619  $ 19,614 $ 7,387       $ 549,914    1.82  
Loans and mortgages 31,294      82,600     345,404  -          (2,004)      457,294    5.10  
Other assets -              -              -             -          16,224     16,224      

$ 247,253    $ 271,935    $ 463,023  $ 19,614 $ 21,607     $ 1,023,432  
Liabilities and equity
Deposits $ 299,967    $ 356,238    $ 228,097  $ -          $ 37,470     $ 921,772    1.64  
Other liabilities -              -              -             -          12,661     12,661      
Equity and subordinated
   debentures -              -              -             -          88,999     88,999      

$ 299,967    $ 356,238    $ 228,097  $ -          $ 139,130    $ 1,023,432  

Subtotal $ (52,714)    $ (84,303)    $ 234,926  $ 19,614 $ (117,523)  $ -               
Prepayment estimate 12,953      38,858     (51,811)   -          -              -               
Excess (deficiency) $ (39,761)    $ (45,445)    $ 183,115  $ 19,614 $ (117,523)  $ -               

2010 %
Assets
Cash and investments $ 164,622    $ 90,904     $ 84,670    $ 1,261   $ 4,862       $ 346,319    1.97  
Loans and mortgages 30,958      72,768     380,420  -          (1,851)      482,295    5.37  
Other assets -              -              -             -          11,692     11,692      

$ 195,580    $ 163,672    $ 465,090  $ 1,261   $ 14,703     $ 840,306    
Liabilities and equity
Deposits $ 186,804    $ 291,248    $ 238,744  $ -          $ 39,703     $ 756,499    1.94  
Other liabilities -              -              -             -          30,447     30,447      
Equity and subordinated
   debentures -              -              -             -          53,360     53,360      

$ 186,804    $ 291,248    $ 238,744  $ -          $ 123,510    $ 840,306    

Subtotal $ 8,776       $ (127,576)  $ 226,346  $ 1,261   $ (108,807)  $ -               
Prepayment estimate 14,266      42,797     (57,063)   -          -              -               
Excess (deficiency) $ 23,042      $ (84,779)    $ 169,283  $ 1,261   $ (108,807)  $ -               
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b) Interest rate swap agreements 

The Company may enter into interest rate swap agreements as a component of its overall risk management strategy.  
These agreements are contractual arrangements between two parties to exchange a series of cash flows.  In an interest 
rate swap agreement, counterparties generally exchange fixed and floating rate interest payments based on a notional 
value.  The primary risks associated with these contracts are the exposure to movements in interest rates and the ability of 
the counterparties to meet the terms of the contract.  Interest rate swap agreements are used to manage interest rate risk 
by modifying the repricing or maturities of assets and liabilities.  Interest rate swap agreements are considered financial 
derivatives and are recorded at fair value.  Income and expenses on interest rate swap agreements are recognized over 
the life of the contract as an adjustment to interest expense.  Accrued expenses are recorded in accrued interest payable.  
There were no interest rate swap agreements outstanding at December 31. 

 

c) Fair value 

The following table presents the fair value of on and off balance sheet financial instruments of the Company based on the 
valuation methods and assumptions set out below.  Fair value represents the amount at which a financial instrument 
could be exchanged in an arm’s length transaction between willing parties under no compulsion to act and is best 
evidenced by a quoted market price, if one exists.  Quoted market prices are not available for a significant portion of the 
Company’s financial instruments.  

The fair values disclosed exclude the values of assets and liabilities that are not considered financial instruments such as 
land, buildings and equipment.  In addition, items such as the value of intangible assets such as customer relationships 
which, in management’s opinion add significant value to the Company, are not included in the disclosures below.   

A three-tier hierarchy is used as a framework for disclosing fair values based on inputs used to value the Company’s 
financial instruments recorded at fair value.  Valuation methods used in this framework are categorized under the 
following fair value hierarchy: 

 

 Level 1 – Quoted prices for active markets for identical financial instruments. 

 Level 2 – Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar financial 
instruments in markets that are not active; and model-derived valuations in which all significant inputs are 
observable in active markets. 

 Level 3 – Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs are not based on 
observable market data. 

 

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents approximate their fair value as they are short term in nature or are 
receivable on demand.  For investments, corporate shares are valued using quoted market prices (Level 1); bank paper, 
bonds and co-operative deposits are valued using market prices provided by 3rd party brokers (Level 2); and co-operative 
securities are carried at cost.  There have been no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during the year. 

For variable rate loans and deposits the carrying value is also considered to be a reasonable estimate of fair value.  For 
fixed rate loans and mortgages, and deposits, the fair value is calculated using a discounted cash flow model, based on 
weighted average interest rates and the term to maturity of the instrument.  The discount rates applied were based on 
the current market rate offered for the average remaining term to maturity.  
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The calculation of estimated fair values is based on market conditions at a specific point in time and may not be reflective 
of future fair values. 

 

2011 2010 
Estimated Estimated 

Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value 
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 42,922,844      $ 42,922,844      $ 34,172,864     $ 34,172,864     
Investments 502,650,191    506,991,451    308,753,954    312,146,088    
Loans and mortgages 457,294,074    464,199,073    482,295,018    482,809,986    
Accrued interest 4,877,363        4,877,363        4,270,318       4,270,318       

Liabilities
Deposits $ 921,771,668    $ 929,043,514    $ 756,498,568    $ 765,193,819    
Accrued interest 4,939,509        4,939,509        5,705,194       5,705,194        

 

 

10.  Commitments and contractual obligations 

 

a) Approved mortgages 

At December 31, 2011 the Company had approved mortgages in the amount of $12,043,612 (2010 - $10,030,070) 
which have not been advanced. 

b) Clearing and settlement agreement 

The Company has entered into a contract for clearing and settlement arrangements. The contract expires in July 2013. 
Pricing is subject to annual adjustment each July 1st based on the average change in Consumer Price Index in the 
preceding 12 month period. 

c) Interest rate swap agreements 

The Company, as intermediary for certain credit unions, may enter into various interest rate swap agreements in order 
that the credit unions may manage their exposure to interest rate fluctuations.  The terms of the agreements provide that 
the Company pay a fixed interest rate on notional principal amounts due to mature in the future in exchange for variable 
or short term interest rate returns on these same amounts.  In turn, reciprocal interest rate swap agreements would be 
entered into with the respective credit unions.  There were no interest rate swap agreements outstanding at December 
31, 2011. 

d) Foreign exchange forward agreements  

The Company, as intermediary for certain credit unions, may enter into various forward agreements in order that the 
credit unions may manage their exposure to foreign currency fluctuations.  The terms of the agreements provide that the 
Company buy or sell a fixed amount of foreign currency, at a fixed exchange rate, on a specified future date. In turn, a 
reciprocal agreement is entered into with the credit unions, to sell or buy the same amount of foreign currency on the 
same dates.  There were no forward rate agreements outstanding at December 31, 2011.  
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e) Rental of premises 

The Company is has entered into an operating lease for premises in Charlottetown and League Savings has entered into 
an operating lease for premises in Sydney.  League Savings also had an operating lease for premises in Moncton which 
terminated in 2011 when its Moncton operations relocated to premises owned by the Company.  The Company is 
committed to pay annual lease payments for rental space for premises as follows: 

After 
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 5 Years 

$ 87,365  $ 56,375  $ 56,375  $ 56,375  $ -           $ -            

Lease payments of $184,438 were recognized as an expense during the period, including minimum lease payments of 
$159,454 and contingent costs of $25,893. 

The Charlottetown lease includes a requirement to pay annual rent of $56,375 in monthly instalments.   The term of the 
lease is from January 1, 2011 to December 31, 2015, and there is an option to extend the lease for a further five year 
term. 

The Sydney lease includes a requirement to pay basic rent of $25 per rentable square foot and additional rent of the 
Company’s proportionate share of all increases in operating costs over $9.50 per rentable square foot of the premises, 
determined at the commencement of each calendar year.  The term of the lease is from August 1, 2007 to July 31, 2012, 
and there is an option to extend the lease for further consecutive five year terms.   

 

11.  Income taxes 

 

The components of tax expense are as follows: 

2011 2010 

Current tax expense

Federal and provincial $ 1,458,437          $ 839,182             

Capital and Large Corporate Tax 217,880             196,571             
1,676,317          1,035,753          

Deferred tax expense

Origination and reversal of deductible temporary differences (255,617)            (276,837)            

Reduction in tax rate 58,158               26,428               

(197,459)            $ (250,409)            
Total tax expense $ 1,478,858          $ 785,344             

 

 

The redemption of shares are reported net of tax recoveries, as detailed below: 

2011 2010 

Deemed dividends from share redemptions $ 2,371,058          $ -                       

Tax recovery recognized in:

Contributed surplus 139,014             -                       

Retained earnings 429,286             -                       
$ 568,300             $ -                       
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The provision for income taxes differs from the result which would be obtained by applying the combined Canadian 
Federal and Provincial statutory income tax rates to income before taxes.  This difference results from the following: 

 

 

2011 2010 

Income before income taxes $ 4,117,986          $ 2,110,551          

Statutory income tax rate 42.82%             43.24%             

Expected income tax 1,763,322          912,602             

Effect on income tax of:

Non-taxable dividends (48,589)             (60,783)             

Permanent tax differences 34,595               21,441               

Capital and Large Corporate Tax 124,314             112,203             

Credit union deduction (36,262)             (89,342)             

General tax rate reduction (420,015)            (129,924)            

Future tax rate reduction 58,158               26,429               

Other 3,335                (7,282)               
Total income tax expense $ 1,478,858          $ 785,344             

 

 

 

The components of the future income tax asset are as follows: 

 

Balance Balance Balance
January 1

 2010 
Net

Income OCI
December 31

2010 
Net

Income OCI
December 31

2011 

Deferred tax assets

Property and equipment $ 25,190    $ 4,622      $ -          $ 29,812        $ 58,028    $ -            $ 87,840         

Allowance for impaired loans 541,959  24,655    -          566,614       (49,910)   -            516,704       

Losses carried forward 300         150,166  -          150,466       174,026  -            324,492       

Net donationscarried forward 54,000    29,707    -          83,707        18,219    -            101,926       

Other 136         41,269    -          41,405        (41,299)   -            106             

621,585  250,419  -          872,004       159,064  -            1,031,068    

Deferred tax liabilities

Unrealized gains on investments (12,783)   (19,448)   3,051   (29,180)       26,433    2,747     -                 

Property and equipment -             -             -          -                 -             -            -                 

Other (25,602)   16,386    -          (9,216)         9,216      -            -                 

(38,385)   (3,062)     3,051   (38,396)       35,649    2,747     -                 
Net deferred tax asset $ 583,200  $ 247,357  $ 3,051   $ 833,608       $ 194,713  $ 2,747     $ 1,031,068    

Recognized in: Recognized in:
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12.  Capital requirements 

The Company manages its capital under guidelines established by the Office of the Superintendent of Financial 
Institutions (OSFI), which require the Central and League Savings and Mortgage Company to maintain capital ratios that 
are adequate in relation to their levels of business activity. For the Central, OSFI prescribes a liabilities to capital borrowing 
multiple not to exceed 20 times capital.    

League Savings and Mortgage Company is subject to guidelines OSFI has issued based on standards issued by the Bank 
for International Settlements, Basel Committee of Banking Supervisors.  OSFI has adopted capital guidelines based on the 
standards known as Basel II, which became effective for League Savings in 2008.  Pillar 1 of the Basel II framework defines 
minimum capital requirements, while Pillar 2 addresses standards for the management of capital requirements. 

Capital requirements are determined based on exposures to credit risk, operational risk, and for entities with significant 
trading activity, market risk.  The standards provide different methodologies for the calculation of risk exposures based on 
a company’s relative size and sophistication.  League Savings has implemented the Standardized Approach for credit risk, 
and the Basic Indicator Approach (BIA) for operational risk.  The Company is not subject to the requirements for market 
risk. 

Regulatory capital is allocated to two tiers: Tier 1 and Tier 2.  Tier 1 comprises the more permanent components of capital 
and consists primarily of common shares, non-cumulative preferred shares, retained earnings and contributed surplus.  
Tier 2 capital, which is primarily composed of subordinated notes, is limited to 50% of Tier 1.  Based on Pillar 1 of the 
Basel II framework, OSFI has established two standards: maximum assets to capital multiple and a minimum risk based 
capital ratio. The first test provides an overall measure of the adequacy of a Company’s capital. The second measure 
focuses on risk faced by the Company.  

Pillar 2 of the Basel II framework requires that institutions have a process in place to make an internal assessment of its 
overall capital position relative to its own unique circumstances and risk profile. This process, referred to as ICAAP, is 
approved by the League Savings Board.  The Company’s internal capital requirements have been calculated in 
accordance with the approved ICAAP.  In particular, the Company’s internal capital limits are adjusted based on an 
annual assessment of the Company’s risk profile as identified in an Enterprise Risk Management framework.   

Capital ratios are monitored regularly and reported to the Board quarterly.  The Capital Management Plan, which 
forecasts capital requirements and includes contingency plans in the event of unanticipated changes, is reviewed by the 
Board annually.  At December 31, capital ratios and assets to capital multiple were as follows: 

2011 2010 
Central:

Maximum borrowing multiple 20                     20                     

Actual borrowing multiple 11.8                  12.6                  

League Savings and Mortgage Company:

OSFI Statutory Tier 1 minimum 4% 4%

OSFI Target Tier 1 minimum 7% 7%

Actual Tier 1 ratio 17.2% 19.9%

Tier 1 ICAAP Requirement $ 18,482,000        $ 14,964,000        

Actual Tier 1 Capital $ 30,929,000        $ 28,893,000        

OSFI Statutory Total Capital minimum 8% 8%

OSFI Target Total Capital minimum 10% 10%

Actual Total Capital ratio 21.2% 24.9%

OSFI Maximum Capital Multiple 20                     20                     

Actual Capital Multiple 12.1                  13.4                  

Total Capital ICAAP Requirement $ 23,875,000        $ 19,314,000        

Actual Total Regulatory Capital $ 38,100,000        $ 36,059,000         
 

The Company’s capital ratios have been in compliance with the regulatory requirements throughout the year. 
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13.  Related party transactions 

 

Key management personnel 

Key management personnel include members of the Board of Directors, the President and CEO, and other senior officers 
of the Company.  The components of total compensation received by key management personnel, and balances due 
to/from key management personnel are as follows: 

2011 2010 

Short-term employee benefits $ 1,069,933        $ 1,120,054       

Contributions to a group savings for retirement program 56,125             59,923            

Mortgage balances due from key management 125,446           145,749          

Deposit balances due to key management 516,360           513,953           

Short-term employee benefits include salaries, variable compensation, director remuneration and other benefits.  The 
mortgage and deposit transactions were made in the ordinary course of business and on substantially the same terms, 
including interest rates and security, as for comparable transactions with persons of a similar standing or, where 
applicable, with other employees. The transactions did not involve more than the normal risk of repayment or present 
other unfavourable features. 

Associates 

During the normal course of operations the Company and the subsidiary, League Savings and Mortgage Company, 
transact business with League Data Limited, a company subject to significant influence as a result of common credit union 
ownership.  These transactions are measured at the exchange amount and are as follows: 

2011 2010 

Income and fees related to the management contract $ 60,000             $ 60,000            
Rental and other income 100,008           99,904            

Services and equipment purchases from League Data Limited 367,323           359,402          

Deposits held by Central 6,204,347        6,587,312       

Amount (receivable) payable to League Data Limited (19,422)           26,800             

 

14.  Credit facilities 

The Company has established an operating line of credit of $4,000,000 with the Bank of Nova Scotia, an operating line of 
credit of $35,000,000 with Central1 Credit Union.  Each line of credit bears interest at the institutions prime lending rate.  
As security the Company has provided an assignment of marketable securities having a carrying value of $39,000,000.  At 
December 31, 2011 and 2010 the amount outstanding on these facilities was nil.   

The Company has also established an additional $100,000,000 disruption event credit facility with Central1 Credit Union, 
secured by a general assignment of assets, bearing interest at the greater of Central1 Credit Unions’ cost of funds plus 
0.75 basis points, or 1-month CDOR plus 0.75 basis points.  The facility provides liquidity and working capital in a 
disruption event that impacts the Company’s ability to function in the ordinary course of business to provide liquidity to 
its member credit unions. 

In 2010 League Savings established a line of credit with Central 1 secured by an assignment of insured residential 
mortgages, bearing interest at prime, up to an amount of $25,000,000.  At December 31, 2011 and 2010 the amount 
outstanding on this facility was nil.    
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15.  Deposits 

 

2011 2010 

Current Accounts $ 37,469,915            $ 39,703,336            

Cash management deposits 250,485,476          130,059,802          

Segregated liquidity deposits 166,425,769          89,093,182            

Registered 7,023,201              7,497,923              

Other deposits 6,476,931              6,264,478              

Total demand 467,881,292          272,618,721          

Registered 163,598,038          164,775,854          

Other term deposits 290,292,338          319,103,993          

Total term 453,890,376          483,879,847          

$ 921,771,668          $ 756,498,568          
 

 

16.  Assets under administration 

 

(a) Mortgages and mutual funds 

Assets under administration include mortgages under administration, which are not the property of the Company and are 
not reflected in the balance sheet. 

 

(b) Syndicated loans 

The Company provides a loan syndication program for Credit Unions.  These loans, which are under the Company’s 
administration, are not the property of the Company and are not reflected on the balance sheet.  Although most of the 
loan syndications are purchased by credit unions, the Company can be a participant if a loan is not fully subscribed to by 
credit unions.  

When the Company participates in the loan syndication, the amount is included in loans and mortgages on the balance 
sheet as “Non-residential”. Where a fully subscribed loan syndication has not been distributed to credit unions, the 
undistributed amount is also included in loans and mortgages as “Non-residential”. 

 

Assets under administration at December 31 were as follows: 

2011 2010 

Mortgages $ 78,767,940        $ 55,817,015        

Syndicated loans 18,333,845        29,918,434        

  included in Non-residential 532,474             579,644             
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17.  Subordinated debentures 

Series B debentures are unsecured and subordinated to all other indebtedness of the Company. The minimum interest 
rate is equal to 1.5 times the dividend rate on the Preferred A shares.  Series B debentures are convertible into Preferred A 
shares at the option of the holder and redeemable at the option of the Company after the fifth anniversary of the date of 
issue, subject to the approval of the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions. 

 

Maturity Earliest 
Date Redemption 2011 2010

Series B December 31, 2024 December 31, 2009 $ 7,102,000   $ 7,102,000 

 

 

During the year there were no subordinated debentures issued or redeemed. 

 

 

18.  Other income 

 

Other income includes the following: 

 

2011 2010 

Banking Services Fees $ 4,485,865        $ 4,210,994        

Banking Services Expenses (2,757,106)       (2,288,869)       

Lending Services Fees 2,272,914        1,586,613        

Lending Services Expenses (755,366)          (662,219)          

Investment Services Fees 35,096             28,371             

Investment Services Expenses (453,402)          (427,604)          

Member assessments 5,537,765        2,593,953        

Management fees 120,000           60,000             

Fee for service 720,428           937,750           

Printing Revenues 817,709           791,911           

Printing Expenses (492,036)          (481,029)          

Rentals 170,304           98,308             

Other 274,001           201,883           

$ 9,976,172        $ 6,650,062        
 

 

The expenses detailed above include direct expenses only.  Salary and staff related costs, and other indirect costs required 
to provide these services are reported in operating expenses. 
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19.  Segmented information 

 

Atlantic Central provides financial and trade services to credit unions, while the subsidiary, League Savings and Mortgage 
Company, provides lending and investment services.  Results for the Company’s major segments are based on the 
Company’s internal financial reporting systems. 

 

 

2011 Central LS&M Total 
Financial income $ 5,446,848       $ 13,140,996     $ 18,587,844     

Other income 9,335,197       640,975         9,976,172       

14,782,045     13,781,971     28,564,016     

Operating expenses 10,039,816     7,589,654       17,629,470     

Atlantic Central transaction costs 769,320         -                    769,320         

Rebates /distributions 3,732,338       2,329,156       6,061,494       

14,541,474     9,918,810       24,460,284     

Income before taxes $ 240,571         $ 3,863,161       $ 4,103,732       

2010

Financial income $ 4,623,403       $ 13,363,939     $ 17,987,342     

Other income 6,351,326       298,736         6,650,062       

10,974,729     13,662,675     24,637,404     

Operating expenses 6,768,771       7,176,167       13,944,938     

Atlantic Central transaction costs 228,877         -                    228,877         

Rebates /distributions 3,359,502       4,999,570       8,359,072       

10,357,150     12,175,737     22,532,887     

Income before taxes $ 617,579         $ 1,486,938       $ 2,104,517       
 

 

 

20.  Minority interest 

 

The minority interest represents the Preferred A shares of League Savings and Mortgage Company. 

 

 

21.  Business Combination 

 

Pursuant to a Definitive Combination Agreement dated June 30, 2010, on January 1, 2011 the Company purchased the 
assets and assumed the liabilities of Credit Union Central of New Brunswick (CUCNB) and Credit Union Central of Prince 
Edward Island (CUCPEI).   The objective of the transaction is the creation of a regional central to provide services to Credit 
Unions in Atlantic Canada.   

 

 



4646

 

The transaction has been completed in four steps: 

 

 

i. Pre-closing 

• New classes of shares created, including provincial class shares and Class B shares. 

• Class NS and Class NL shares distributed to the shareholders of record as at January 1, 2011, by way of a 
stock dividend. 

• Class A shares exchanged for common shares. 

• Class A shares cancelled. 

 

ii. Closing 

• CUCNB and CUCPEI transferred assets and liabilities at fair value to the Atlantic Central, in exchange for 
Convertible Notes and Class NB and Class PEI shares.  The Convertible Notes are convertible into Common, 
Class NB and Class PEI shares 

 

1. Post-closing 

• Convertible notes were converted. 

• CUCNB and CUCPEI distribute the Common, Class NB and Class PEI shares to their members in exchange for 
shares in CUCNB and CUCPEI. 

• CUCNB and CUCPEI continue to exist until the companies are wound up.   

 

2. Rebalancing 

• Atlantic Central maintains a specific level of equity and common shares -  a total of 8% of assets - made up of 
1.7% equity (excluding AOCI) and 6.3% common shares. 

• To achieve the above, and to achieve each member credit union’s proportionate share of ownership, each 
credit union’s holdings in the various classes of shares will be increased or reduced annually by way of share 
subscriptions or redemptions. 
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The details of the business combination are as follows: 

 

 

CUCNB CUCPEI Total
Fair value of consideration transferred
Common Shares $ 7,348,500         $ 4,018,760         $ 11,367,260       
Class NB Shares 32.50                -                        32.50                
Class PEI Shares -                        0.10                  0.10                  
Contributed Surplus 3,249,967.50    9,999.90           3,259,967.40    

$ 10,598,500       $ 4,028,760         $ 14,627,260       

Fair value of net assets acquired
Cash and investments $ 118,964,695     $ 119,545,215     $ 238,509,910     
Loans 266,639            -                        266,639            
Fixed assets 1,356,142         -                        1,356,142         
Other assets 242,388            465,993            708,381            
Deposits (109,138,436)    (115,653,481)    (224,791,917)    
Other liabilities (1,092,928)        (328,967)           (1,421,895)        

$ 10,598,500       $ 4,028,760         $ 14,627,260       

 

 

The loans acquired are credit union lines of credit, which are due on demand.  As a result, the contractual amount 
receivable is equal to the fair value acquired.   All lines of credit outstanding are expected to be collected. 

Costs relating to the transaction have been reported in Net Income as Atlantic Central Transaction Costs. 

Staff employed by CUCNB and CUCPEI were offered employment contracts by the Company, and the operations of 
CUCNB and CUCPEI were integrated into the operations of the new Atlantic Central.  As a result, the determination of the 
amount of revenues and expenses in 2011 attributable to the former CUCNB and CUCPEI operations is impracticable. 

 

 

22. Impact of transition to IFRS 

 

As stated in note 2, these are the Company’s first financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs.  The accounting 
policies set out in note 3 have been applied in preparing these financial  statements for the year ended December 31, 
2011, for the comparative information presented for the year ended December 31, 2010, and in the preparation of an 
opening IFRS statement of financial position as at January 1, 2010 (the Company’s date of transition). 

In preparing its opening IFRS statement of financial position, the Company has adjusted amounts reported previously in 
financial statements prepared in accordance with previous Canadian GAAP.  An explanation of the impact of the 
transition from previous Canadian GAAP to IFRS on the Company’s financial statements is set out in the following tables. 

The adjustments relate to changes in the Company’s methodology for determining allowances for collective losses on 
loans and mortgages.  The new methodology, which was consistent with Canadian GAAP, was implemented in 2010 and 
is reflected in the Financial Statements for the year ended December 2010 as previously reported.  As a result, the 
adjustments to IFRS impact only the opening IFRS statement of financial position at January 1, 2010 and the statement of 
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comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2010, as detailed below.  There is no impact on cash flows for 
the year ended December 31, 2010 or the financial position as at December 31, 2010.   

 

Reconcilation of equity as at January 1, 2010:

Previous Effect of 

Canadian transition 

GAAP to IFRS IFRS 

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 23,970,414       $ $ 23,970,414       

Investments 273,931,250     273,931,250     

Loans and mortgages 498,518,019     271,001           498,789,020     

Accrued interest 4,119,559        4,119,559        

Fixed assets 2,878,482        2,878,482        

Future income tax asset 666,445           (83,245)            583,200           

Other assets 2,554,035        2,554,035        

$ 806,638,204     $ 187,756           $ 806,825,960     

Liabilities

Deposits $ 721,848,677     $ $ 721,848,677     

Accrued interest 6,514,973        6,514,973        

Accounts payable and accrued 9,904,943        9,904,943        

Minority interest in subsidiary 13,986,740       (13,986,740)     -                      

Subordinated debentures 7,102,000        7,102,000        

759,357,333     (13,986,740)     745,370,593     

Shareholders' equity

Capital stock 26,053,960       26,053,960       

Retained earnings 17,496,866       187,756           17,684,622       

Accumulated other comprehensive income 3,730,045        3,730,045        

47,280,871       187,756           47,468,627       

Minority interest in subsidiary -                      13,986,740       13,986,740       

47,280,871       14,174,496       61,455,367       

$ 806,638,204     $ 187,756           $ 806,825,960     
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Reconciliation of comprehensive income

  for the year ended December 31, 2010:

Previous Effect of 

Canadian transition 

GAAP to IFRS IFRS 

Gross financial margin $ 17,382,459       $ -                      $ 17,382,459       

Provision for loan losses (recovery) (8,303)             271,001           262,698           

Net financial margin 17,390,762       (271,001)          17,119,761       

Other financial income 867,581           -                      867,581           

Net financial income 18,258,343       (271,001)          17,987,342       

Other income 6,650,062        -                      6,650,062        

24,908,405       (271,001)          24,637,404       

Operating expenses 13,944,938       -                      13,944,938       

Operating income 10,963,467       (271,001)          10,692,466       

Atlantic Central transaction costs 228,877           -                      228,877           

Distributions 8,359,072        -                      8,359,072        

Income before taxes 2,375,518        (271,001)          2,104,517        

Income taxes 868,589           (83,245)            785,344           

Net income 1,506,929        (187,756)          1,319,173        

Minority interest in earnings of subsidiary 419,602           -                      419,602           

Net income $ 1,087,327        $ (187,756)          $ 899,571           
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Effective corporate governance remains a priority at Atlantic Central. Sound 
governance and ethical behaviour benefits not only our shareholders, but all 
stakeholders including credit unions, credit union members and our employees.  

Our Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the management of 
the business and affairs of Central and for providing effective leadership to 
the credit union network with the objective of enhancing both shareholder 
and stakeholder value. The directors are responsible for maintaining a high 
standard of governance and ensuring the ongoing review and assessment of 
our governance system. 

Board Composition
An Inaugural Board of Directors was appointed to serve until the Annual 
General Meeting in April 2012.  Subsequently, the Board of Directors of Atlantic 
Central will consist of 12 Directors as follows:

(i)   Two (2) Directors elected at large by the Delegates of the Members 
who constitute the NB Regional Group;

(ii)  Two (2) Directors elected at large by the Delegates of the Members 
who constitute the NL Regional Group;

(iii) Six (6) Directors elected by the Delegates of the Members who 
constitute the NS Regional Group, as follows:

a. One (1) Director elected by the Delegates of the Members 
who constitute NS Peer Group 1;

b. Two (2) Directors elected by the Delegates of the Members 
who constitute NS Peer Group 2; and

c. Three (3) Directors elected by the Delegates of the Members 
who constitute NS Peer Group 3; and

(iv) Two (2) Directors elected at large by the Delegates who are 
Members who constitute the PEI Regional Group.

The following individuals serve as the Board of Directors:

- Dave MacLean, Chair of the Board
- Pat Duffield, 1st Vice-Chair
- Paul Newman, 2nd Vice-Chair
- Doug Dewling
- Connie Doucette
- Jim Johnson
- Kevin MacAdam
- Jim MacFarlane
- Michael MacIsaac
- Kurt Peacock
- Louis Shea
- Raymond Surette

Corporate Governance

David MacLean

Pat DuffieldPat Duffield
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The Board meets at least once each fiscal quarter and holds an annual strategic 
planning session. It also meets at other times when matters requiring its 
approval are raised and cannot wait for the next quarterly meeting. The Board 
of Directors met five times in 2011.

Committees of the Board
The Board has established five standing committees: Executive-Human 
Resources; Audit, Risk and Conduct Review; Governance; Corporate Social 
Responsibility and System Credit.

Executive-Human Resources Committee: Its six members include the Board 
Chair, Past Chair, 1st Vice-Chair and 2nd Vice-Chair and two other directors 
elected by the Board. This Committee is responsible for addressing matters 
between scheduled Board meetings that require immediate attention. The 
Committee also acts as a Human Resources Committee. In this capacity, the 
Committee makes recommendations to the Board on the President and CEO’s 
compensation and performance evaluation.

Committee Members: Dave MacLean (Chair of the Board); Jim Johnson (Past 
Chair); Pat Duffield (1st Vice-Chair); Paul Newman (2nd Vice-Chair); Kurt 
Peacock and Jim MacFarlane.  

Audit, Risk and Conduct Review Committee: It is comprised of four members. As 
an Audit Committee, it is responsible to ensure that management has designed 
and implemented an effective system of financial management and related 
internal controls. It reviews and reports on the audited financial statements 
and ensures compliance with certain regulatory and statutory requirements. It 
is also responsible to meet periodically with internal and external auditors. As a 
Risk Committee, it is responsible for ensuring that management has developed 
and maintained an effective Enterprise Risk Management Framework for 
evaluating the business strategies being used for allocation of human, capital 
and other resources.  As a Conduct Review Committee, it is responsible to 
ensure that Atlantic Central has developed and adheres to ethical standards 
and sound business conduct in such areas as conflict of interest and related 
party procedures.

Committee Members:  Doug Dewling (Chair); Louis Shea; Kurt Peacock; and 
Michael MacIsaac.  

Governance Committee: Its six members are responsible for reviewing and 
recommending changes, as appropriate, to the governance structure of 
Atlantic Central and for ensuring that an effective governance system is in place, 
including a schedule for regular policy review and compliance. In addition, 
this Committee ensures Board decisions and positions are appropriately 
translated into documented policies. The Committee oversees the procedures 
for nominating and electing Atlantic Central Directors to ensure compliance 

Paul Newman

Doug Dewling
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with policies and bylaws and resolves any issues or questions related to this 
process.  The Committee is responsible for overseeing the director evaluation 
process and for establishing and monitoring the orientation program for new 
directors, as well as the monitoring of ongoing training and development of 
Board members.

Committee Members:  Raymond Surette (Chair); Kurt Peacock; Connie 
Doucette; Kevin MacAdam; Michael MacIsaac; and Jim MacFarlane.

Corporate Social Responsibility Committee:  The Committee is comprised 
of at least four Directors seeking representation from each Atlantic Province 
and is responsible for establishing and overseeing the terms of reference for 
charitable giving, awards and recognition programs, and sustainability as set 
out and approved by the Board from time to time.

Committee Members:  Jim Johnson (Chair), Louis Shea, Kurt Peacock, Doug 
Dewling and Kevin MacAdam.

System Credit Committee: The Committee is comprised of no fewer than five 
Directors and is responsible for evaluating and approving or rejecting all loans 
above the lending limits for management; including syndicated loans.

Committee Members: Primary:  Jim Johnson (Chair), Pat Duffield, Jim 
MacFarlane, Louis Shea, and Paul Newman.  Alternate:  Raymond Surette, 
Michael MacIsaac and Doug Dewling.

 
Mandate of the Board of Directors
While the Board’s fundamental responsibility is to supervise the management 
of the business and affairs of Central, any responsibility that is not specifically 
delegated to the President and CEO remains with the Board. In particular, 
the Board oversees Atlantic Central’s strategic direction to ensure it serves 
the organization, its member credit unions, employees and communities of 
New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, Prince Edward Island and Newfoundland and 
Labrador. The Board assumes overall stewardship with respect to Atlantic 
Central’s mission and values, its long-term objectives and the approval of 
corporate strategies. Specifically, the Board is responsible for the following:

• The selection, succession and evaluation of the President and CEO, as 
   well as compensation and employment conditions
• Establishing and approving Board policies
• Overseeing Atlantic Central’s internal control framework
• Developing and approving strategic plans for Atlantic Central
• Providing advice to the President and CEO
• Evaluating the Board’s performance and overseeing the ethical, legal 
   and social conduct of the organization
• Reviewing the financial performance and condition of the organization

Connie Doucette

Jim Johnson
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Attendance at Board and Committee Meetings
The Board of Directors recognizes the importance of each individual director’s 
participation at Board and committee meetings. Every Director is expected to 
attend all Board and committee meetings unless adequate cause is given for 
missing a meeting. The following table sets out the attendance of each Board 
member at Board and committee meetings throughout 2011.

             
 *Table Officer 

Board Evaluations
As part of its commitment to ongoing development and improvement, the 
Board of Directors conducts an annual self-evaluation. This evaluates the 
Board’s effectiveness in the following areas: Financial Performance, Relationship 
with Credit Union System, Board Functioning, Strategic Leadership, Corporate 
Social Responsibility, Governance, Learning and Development. The results of 
the evaluation are used to guide the training and development agenda for the 
Board in the upcoming year.

Evolving Governance Processes
At Atlantic Central, we recognize that our governance standards must evolve 
to respond to changes in our company, the credit union network, stakeholder 
expectations and regulatory requirements. The Board monitors ongoing 
developments in corporate governance practices to ensure that it continues to 
implement best practices in Central and provide effective governance to the 
credit union network in the Atlantic region.

Name Board and 
Planning 
Session

Audit, Risk 
& Conduct 

Review 
Committee

Executive/
HR

Committee

Governance
Committee

Corporate 
Social 

Responsibility
Committee

System 
Credit

Committee†

* David MacLean 5/5 - 4/4 - -

*Pat Duffield 5/5 - 4/4 - -

*Paul Newman 5/5 - 4/4 - -

Doug Dewling 5/5 4/4 - - 3/3

Connie Doucette 5/5 - - 4/4 -

Jim MacFarlane 5/5 - 4/4 4/4 3/3

Michael MacIsaac 5/5 4/4 - 4/4 -

Kevin MacAdam 5/5 - - 3/4 3/3

Raymond Surette 5/5 - - 3/4 -

Kurt Peacock 5/5 4/4 4/4 4/4 3/3

Jim Johnson 5/5 - 4/4 - 3/3

Louis Shea 5/5 4/4 - - 2/3

 

Kevin MacAdam

Jim MacFarlane
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Affiliate Boards

Canadian Co-operative Association
The Atlantic Central appoints three delegates to the Canadian Co-operative 
Association.  Delegates from shareholders/members in the Atlantic region elect 
two Directors.  Raymond Surette from Atlantic Central is a director on the CCA 
Board representing the Atlantic Provinces, and will serve until the AGM in June, 
2014.  

League Savings and Mortgage Company
Atlantic Central is entitled to appoint six members to the League Savings 
Board. Its current directors are: Ron Andrews, John Peach, Jim MacFarlane, 
Raymond Surette, Kevin MacAdam and Doug Dewling. The Directors serve at 
the pleasure of Atlantic Central.

Northwest & Ethical Investments Inc. (NEI)
The Atlantic Central owns one common voting share of NEI. Atlantic Central is 
entitled to elect one director to the Board.  The current director for the Atlantic 
Provinces is Bernie O’Neil (term expires 2012).

Concentra Financial
The Atlantic Provinces fall under the “minority shareholders” category and are 
entitled to elect one director to Concentra’s Board of Directors. The minority 
shareholders consist of Central 1, Atlantic Central, and La Federation des Caisses 
Populaires du Manitoba. This position is not currently filled by a nominee from 
Atlantic Central.

The Co-operators
The Atlantic Central appoints two delegates. The Atlantic regional delegates 
elect three directors to The Co-operators’ Board to represent the Atlantic 
Region. Connie Doucette from the Atlantic Central currently serves in one of 
these positions (term expires 2012).

Credit Union Central of Canada (CUCC)
Two positions on the CUCC Board are designated for the Atlantic Central. 
Candidates are to be nominated with the majority support of the Atlantic 
Central. The present directors are Dave MacLean from Atlantic Central (term 
expires 2012) and Paul MacNeill from the Souris Credit Union (term expires 
2013).

Michael MacIsaac

Kurt Peacock
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League Data
The President and CEO of Atlantic Central has a dedicated seat on the League 
Data Board. 

Nova Scotia Co-operative Council
A director to the Nova Scotia Co-operative Council Board is appointed by the 
Board of Atlantic Central. The Atlantic Central Director is Kevin MacAdam.

Prince Edward Island Co-operative Council
A director to the Prince Edward Island Co-operative Council Board is appointed 
by the Board of Atlantic Central.  The Atlantic Central Director is Jeanette 
Wakelin.

Louis Shea

Raymond Surette
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